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YOU COULDN’T MAKE IT UP


The tales in this book are all factual. Some, but not all, are about the great and the good from Devon and Cornwall’s historic past but others, by contrast, are about the small and the not so good – ordinary people with extraordinary stories – tales that have hardly seen the light of day before in a book of this kind. All of them have been chosen to interest the general reader, be they a resident or a visitor to this most historic and fascinating bottom left-hand corner of our beautiful island. Although times change and people move on, memories of their lives and the places in which they lived remain and are a joy to revisit as they are brought back to life again in this personal retelling of their unique stories.
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It wasn’t all beer and skittles for West Country monks in the Middle Ages – there was also hawking, wenching and real tennis.





SHIP OF FOOLS


It’s not surprising that with much of Devon and Cornwall bounded on two sides by ocean, this is also England’s foremost domain of seafaring folk. It can also lay claim to being the first in England to utter the phrase ‘a ship of fools’, an expression now universally applied to any group that has lost its moral compass. It began in 1508 in land-locked Ottery St Mary and the collegiate church of St Mary on the hill above the town.


Enter one Alexander Barclay, a somewhat straight-laced Doctor of Divinity at Oxford and now the newly appointed chaplain. What he finds appals him. The church and its many hangers-on are in total disarray. Here are monks and priests who, instead of going about their religious duties, while away their days (not to mention nights) in hunting, ‘hawking at Honitone’, wenching, drunkenness, gambling and – wait for it – ‘the playing of Real Tennis’. He unpacks hurriedly, reaches for his quill pen and parchment and, closeting himself away from the hubbub, begins to write his satirical poem ‘The Ship of Fools’, some of which he translates from the original German. The poem is an allegory and a product of the medieval conception of the Shrovetide Fool and his crew. Here is the scholar surrounded by books but who learns nothing from them; the judge who takes bribes; the followers of fashion; the priests who fornicate or spend their time in church telling ‘gestes’ of Robin Hood – and so on. Although his critics say that his style is stiff and his verse uninspired, the phrase ‘a ship of fools’ has been usefully employed in the language ever since, but it did not make him popular in Devon. Having rubbed so many people up the wrong way, he left the county in 1513, eventually changing his religion and entering into the history books as ‘Maistre Barkleye, the Blacke Monke and Poete’ – a Franciscan at Canterbury. He died in Croydon on 10 June 1552.


Alas, there is no monument in Devon to the man or his epic works but if you have time to while away, you will find the woodcuts which illustrated his work online and, of course, the ageless words themselves, which remain those of a very wise man.
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To be all but shipwrecked on a strange island was only the start of the tragedy for the little Spanish princess, Catherine of Aragon.





HABLAS ESPAÑOL?


Catherine of Aragon was not supposed to come up the A30 at all.


Her mother, Queen Isabella of Spain, had wanted her to land at Southampton because she had been told that it was England’s safest harbour and that is where it was planned that the seriously diminutive 16-year-old Infanta was to meet up with her husband-to-be, Prince Arthur, a delicate boy more than a year her junior and half a head shorter.


But time and tide are no respecters of princes and the regal reception that awaited her in Hampshire was thrown into disarray as a great storm blew up in the Channel. This was later reckoned to be a bad omen and a forerunner of what was to follow. At 3 o’clock in the afternoon of Saturday, 7 October 1501, the future Queen of England and her entourage, all of them decidedly green and ‘fearing for their lives throughout the storm’, set foot on English soil for the first time, in Plymouth, where they straightaway fell on their knees on the dockside and gave thanks. Mild panic ensued as lodgings were found and the princess (who spoke only Spanish and Latin, with just a little French) was persuaded to cool her heels for a week as messengers were sent ahead, hot foot, to Winchester. For, once upon a time, wise men had told Henry Tudor that Winchester was Camelot and it was why the wily Welshman had packed his wife off to that fair city as soon as he had heard that she was pregnant – fingers crossed that there she might be safely delivered of a son and heir that he could then name Arthur. The Once and Future King. But that was fifteen years earlier.


Right now, Catherine, Arthur’s bride-to-be, had reached Exeter on 19 October amid a cavalcade of escorting gentry in time for an official reception hosted and arranged by Henry VII’s specially appointed event organiser, Lord Willoughby de Broke. He must have been a remarkable man and probably set up some kind of new land speed record to have covered the ground between Southampton, Winchester and Exeter to get the whole welcome back on track in such a short space of time. He found Catherine lodged at the deanery in Exeter, close by the cathedral, where the squeaky weather vane atop the church of St Mary Major had kept her awake at night until a hapless servant of the dean’s was ordered aloft in the pitch dark and with a full gale blowing, to put an end to something that ‘did so whistle that the princess could not sleep’.


Awaiting her party at Honiton the next day were twelve palfreys (small riding horses) for her ladies, while a litter – a covered chair mounted on poles and carried between two horses – transported Catherine herself. She objected. She was a fine horsewoman but the litter had been ordered for her by Henry himself. Thus began her progress proper, following roughly what was to become the A30, with comfort stops every 12 miles or so. Just west of Crewkerne, Somerset, she bid adios to the great and the good of Devon and Cornwall and hola to those of Somerset’s dignitaries who could be mustered in time. Here was Sir Amyas Paulet from Hinton St George, and by his side Sir John Speke, a widower, from White Lackington. Whilst Paulet was well and truly married with a year-old son, Speke’s 59-year-old eye, though probably dimming, was still roving, and here at the roadside on that chill October day it settled on one of Catherine’s young maids of honour. She would have been about the same age as her mistress, Catherine. Her name, the records show, was Alicia or Alice (the Speke family tree spells her name Allice), and whether he courted her in English, Spanish or Latin, the old boy must have had something going for him because the following year they were married and together had one son, John, to keep the Speke line going. Fast forward 357 years to 1858 and their great (umpteenth great) grandson, John Hanning Speke was the man who discovered the source of the Nile, crossing Lake Victoria (as he himself named it) in a little collapsible boat called The Lady Alice.


Meanwhile, back on the Great South-West Road, Catherine’s progress continued through Dorset, with overnight stops at Sherborne and Shaftesbury. She finally arrived at Dogmersfield, in Hampshire, not far from today’s Fleet services. Here she took a welcome break from her journey and sent a message ahead to the rapidly approaching King Henry and groom-to-be, Arthur, telling them to hold off a while. It was, her messengers reminded the English Court, forbidden for either of them, king or prince alike, to have sight of her face before the wedding day. Catherine came from a court much influenced by Moorish Spain and would become the first veiled bride ever to be wed in the British Isles.


Nothing daunted, Henry rode roughshod over Catherine’s protestations, the young couple were brought together and an impromptu party and ball were held, although history relates that the diminutive Spanish princess and her even shorter English prince did not dance together: this would have been too much of an affront to Spanish etiquette. But by this great folly, some say, the marriage was cursed, and Arthur died just five months later while they were on honeymoon at Ludlow Castle in Shropshire. When questioned on the subject many, many years later, Catherine told her inquisitors words to the effect that she had indeed been ‘wedded but never bedded’.


As poor young Catherine was delivered to her destiny – and the wildly cheering crowds of London – she abandoned the litter the English had provided and chose instead to demonstrate her Spanishness to court and crowd alike by riding into the city on a broad-backed Murcian mule (hastily provided by the Spanish Ambassador), which she chose to ride side-saddle – and to the right – ‘in the Spanish style’. She and her entourage were lodged south of the river at the area known then, as now, as Elephant & Castle, which some say is the South Londoners’ corruption of the pronunciation of ‘La Infanta de Castilla’.


Yet an even greater curse than the loss of her husband was to follow, of course, when following the untimely death of Arthur she was married off to his younger brother Henry, later to become Henry VIII, and she, poor woman, the first of his six wives. Divorced. Beheaded. Died. Divorced. Beheaded. Survived. She died in 1536 aged 50, set aside for Anne Boleyn, and is buried in Peterborough Cathedral where, on the anniversary of her death each year a bouquet of yellow flowers - which some historians believe to be the colour of mourning in the Spanish Court - appears on her grave, left there by an unknown hand.
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How Devon stood alone in the West as Elizabeth dithered and Spain sent its great Armada against us.





THE SPANISH ARE COMING!


It’s easy to picture Queen Elizabeth I facing down the Spanish Armada in her guise as the semi-divine being promoted so skilfully by the Tudor propaganda machine and portrayed in Gower’s famous depiction of her in The Armada Portrait. ‘God blew and they were scattered!’


In reality, today’s historians reveal Good Queen Bess as a serial tightwad whose miserliness and dithering brought about suffering and even death on an extraordinary scale to many of the brave men who served under her. Her sailors, at Plymouth, lived on such short rations that they were forced to fish off the sides of their ships in harbour as they awaited provisions and ammunition to fight the Armada.


She was finally persuaded to loosen her grip on her purse strings after naval commander, Lord Howard, had been forced to urge her, ‘For the love of Jesus Christ, Madam, awake and see the villainous treasons around about you, against your majesty and the realm.’


One month’s rations finally arrived in Devon on 23 June 1588 and were distributed to the fleet. They were told that they should make them last for six weeks. With the provisions came a warning from the queen, relates the renowned Devon-born historian James Froude, that she had forbidden further preparations to be made for supply till the month was out, after which it would take a further two weeks to assemble the rations and a further week to ship them to Devon.


The men bore their suffering without complaint but the beer that had arrived was sour and poisonous and brought dysentery, an enemy more dreaded than the Spanish, that carried them off in scores. Unable to endure the sight of this suffering, Lord Howard, the commander of the English fleet and Drake, both wealthy men, ordered wine and arrowroot for the sick at Plymouth on their own responsibility. Elizabeth later called them to sharp account for their extravagance, which had saved possibly a thousand brave men to fight for her. Drake took it on the chin. Howard refused to defend his actions and paid the bill out of his own purse.


It is late afternoon on Friday, 29 July 1588, and the first alarms are sounded out of Cornwall that the Spanish Armada is in sight off the Lizard Peninsula. Church bells ring out faint but clear across the Tamar and greenery is thrown on to blazing signal fires to create smoke and alert Plymouth, and thence the rest of England, that the invasion has come.


News of the number and disposition of the enemy ships reaches Drake and Frobisher and their fellow captains by sea the next day as a lookout ship, the Golden Hind, beats into Plymouth where Lord Howard’s fleet awaits the news, locked in by an inclement wind and the dictates of the tide.


Plymouth’s protective breakwater does not exist at this point in history. The smaller vessels – armed merchantmen for the most part – are sheltering in the mouth of the Tamar, the larger fighting ships are in the Sound, where they will stand a better chance of getting out against the tide by ‘kedging’. This will involve moving a vessel forward by dropping a small anchor ahead of it and then manning winches on deck to pull the ship along.


This is a laborious process but one that will nevertheless save the day and allow Howard’s men to escape and wait in the lee of Rame Head, the headland to the west of Plymouth Sound, for whatever is to come.


It is not yet dawn on the morning of Sunday, 31 July and Howard’s ships now lie hidden but ready for action. If they can slip out behind the Armada as it passes they will have the weather gauge – the windward position in relation to the enemy – answering the prayer of every English captain for the battle ahead.


First blood comes before noon. The Armada’s supreme commander, Alonso Perez de Guzman, Duke of Medina Sidonia, is called to the rail of his 1,000-ton flagship, the San Martin, which, through the clearing sea mist, sights eighty-five English ships to windward of them. His own great bow-shaped crescent of ships known as the lunula formation proceeds up-Channel – transports and troopships protected in depth in the centre – warships on either side in two horns, in an unbreakable formation.


So the English are out. He ignores the entreaties of his captains to attack Plymouth and continues their progress slowly eastwards, resolved not to risk an attack on Plymouth but to follow the orders of his king and sail to the rendezvous with the Spanish army from the Netherlands he believes to be waiting to join him at Calais.


Howard has no knowledge of Spain’s intentions but knows that he must harass the main central body of the Armada and prevent it from landing troops anywhere. Drake’s and Hawkins’s squadrons will attack the horns of the lunula.


Onshore, thousands have waited and watched and prayed throughout the short summer night, and as morning wears on there is a shout that sounds along the coast like a breaking wave, from Wembury to Salcombe and round to Dartmouth and beyond, as the sails of the Spanish galleons come into view.


They count them – 10, 20, 50, 130 sail. Then orange flashes and puffs of white smoke and seconds later the distant thunder of cannon fire as the galleons back their sails and slow in an attempt to entice these English into close combat. But their tormentors keep their distance, snapping at the heels of their quarry.


Like greyhounds, they bear down on the sterns of this slow-moving prey, each English vessel attempting to describe a figure-of-eight as it fires, first its long-range bow-chaser, then as it turns, a raking broadside, followed by a second as it goes about.


Devon watches the running battle unfold across the broad expanse of Lyme Bay, from Start Point to Portland Bill, attack after attack, hour upon hour. A quarter of the crews that man this English fleet are from Devon, many of them the loved ones of these townsfolk and villagers who have come to view this great drama.


Some stay to watch. Others hurry homewards and look to the safety of families, homes and belongings. Able-bodied men of the trained bands (between the ages of 16 and 60) gather up the weapons they have bought at their own expense – still longbows and pikes for the most part – and hurry to the local assembly points laid down by the Lord Lieutenant of the county, the Earl of Bath. Orders to Cornwall’s and Devon’s and Dorset’s trained bands are the same given to all the other coastal counties. They are to march eastwards along the coast, gathering in strength as they progress, so that wherever the Spaniards choose to make landfall they can be met in numbers.


No help comes from the far west. The Cornish trained bands march only as far as the Tamar before returning to their barley harvest. Devon stands alone and the whole of Devon is in motion. Gallopers leave the crowds that gather at village squares and urge their mounts up, up to the headlands and promontories to put fresh flame to the braziers that continue to smoke the word along the coast to Beachy Head in Sussex, where, at dusk, they turn suddenly inland towards London, this time as a string of bright fires.


At sea the 29,453 men, soldiers and sailors of the Spanish Armada cross themselves as they peer through the smoke of battle upon this foreign realm, ‘the great bastion of heresy’ they have come to destroy. Perhaps Medina Sidonia – briefly overcoming the seasickness from which he suffers so badly – permits himself a smile at the thought of the panic he and his men must be bringing to these Western counties. For only he and his senior officers know that Devon and Cornwall are safe awhile. This great crusading force has been charged with avoiding engagements if possible and making its way up the Channel to meet up with a great fleet of barges he believes to be waiting at Calais where some 27,000 hardened Spanish troops from the occupied territory of the Netherlands will embark and cross to England with the Armada as escort.


Those troops will land between Dover and Margate, and with the Armada escorting their right flank as it sails up the Thames, will advance and put London to the flame – along with England’s ‘heretic and illegitimate’ Protestant queen – restore Catholicism to ‘this blighted realm’ and crown Philip of Spain as its king.


So much for the plans of men – a plan never to unfold, thanks to the bravery of England’s seamen and a great summer storm. The rest, as they say, is history.


The running battle up the Channel pauses briefly off Calais, where the Armada anchors only to discover that there is no waiting army. Fire ships are sent against them and in a desperate attempt to escape many of the galleons cut their anchor cables. For many it foreshadows the disasters that are to come.


The largest of the English attacks follows on 8 August, off Gravelines, Flanders, after which the Spanish turn on their heels and flee northwards with the English in pursuit as far as the Firth of Forth.


As they round the Shetlands in a storm and head west to follow the west coast of Ireland to home, all thoughts of invasion vanish and survival becomes paramount. Ships sink or run aground, and in the teeth of what now turns into a full-blown hurricane, unable to anchor or find shelter, twenty-four more ships founder. Their crews either drown or are slaughtered by Elizabeth’s troops as they drag themselves ashore.


What Pope Sixtus V in Rome has blessed and declared Spain’s Holy Crusade has turned into a disaster. England, on the other hand, dubs the storm the Protestant Wind and sees it as a sign that God supports the Reformation.


First news of the defeat reaches Spain in early September, prompting Philip to write: ‘I hope that God has not permitted so much evil, for everything has been done for His service.’


Of the 130 ships sent by him against England, more than thirty-six capital ships are lost and a score and more of smaller vessels, supply ships and galleasses never return. More than 15,000 seamen and soldiers die, including those who either drown, are killed in action or later die of wounds.


Amazingly after such a tragedy, Philip strikes at England again in October 1592, with another army and a fleet of 126 ships. The orders this time are simple. Don’t chance the Channel. They are to invade England via the West Country by landing in Cornwall, occupying the port of Falmouth and then marching on into Devon via Plymouth, which will simultaneously be attacked from the sea.


With most of the English fleet being refitted, Philip’s cunning plan might well have succeeded – save for the October gales. This time thirty galleons are lost before they even sight the Scillies and the rest turn back.


Once more England is reminded of the inscription Elizabeth has had engraved on the Armada medals she had struck after the defeat of the first Armada: Flavit Deus et dissipati sunt. ‘God blew and they were scattered.’


(Footnote: All dates therein are those we use in the modern calendar.)
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The remarkable life, loves and tragic death of Devon’s most illustrious son, his secret daughter and his loyal wife.





THE RISE AND FALL OF WALTER RALEIGH


Nobody knows for sure what became of Sir Walter Raleigh’s head after he was executed.


He was publicly beheaded as a traitor in Old Palace Yard, Westminster, in 1618 and his body was laid to rest in the chancel of St Margaret’s Church, Westminster, on the south side of the altar. But his devoted wife, Bess Throckmorton, took that severed head from the scaffold, wrapped it in a cloak and thence put it into a red leather, drawstring bag that she kept close by her until her own death some twenty-nine years later.


The mystery is further compounded by the fact that quite where that poor lady herself is buried is unknown. Was it put into her own coffin with her, that cherished head of Devon’s most illustrious son whose life was brought to such a tragic end by a complex conspiracy of intrigue, jealousy and lies that thrived at the court of the paranoid James I? For favourite of Good Queen Bess he had been and swashbuckling braggart of a sea-dog certainly, but traitor he never was – as James well knew.


Raleigh was born at Hayes Barton in Devon in about 1553, near East Budleigh to a Protestant family – the head of which was the landed gentleman, Walter Raleigh (a former deputy vice-admiral in the South West) and his third wife Katherine. Her sister, ‘Kat’, was governess to the young princess Elizabeth and remained a close friend to her in the queen’s later years.


So the man who was to become Devon’s most famous son, a knight of the realm, writer, poet, philosopher, soldier, adventurer (dare we say pirate?) politician, courtier – and latterly a healer – set out from his farmhouse home in deepest Devon – after completing his education at Oriel College Oxford – with some useful connections that the youthful and ambitious Raleigh was soon to exploit.


Sir Carew Raleigh, a Member of Parliament, was his elder brother, while his half-brother, Sir Humphrey Gilbert, introduced him to the royal court, where his good looks and charm made him popular – he was a legendary ladies’ man – and after serving the Crown as a soldier in the French wars and then later by putting down a rebellion in Ireland, the dashing young blade became the 27-year-old favourite of the 48-year-old Queen Elizabeth, becoming captain of her personal bodyguard.


She would certainly have guessed that this tall, poetic ‘softly spoken Devon lad’ (he never lost his broad Devon accent, which endeared him to her) would already have sown an acre or two of wild oats during his military career but there was one particular secret he kept hidden so deeply that it only emerged in the 1970s when a will was uncovered in the archives of his Sherborne estates in Dorset.


It revealed that he left 500 marks (£332) ‘To my Reputed Daughter, begotten on the body of Alice Goold, now in Ireland’. Now in Ireland? Good, Gould or Gold are all old Devon names, so was Alice a Devon lass who was later secreted away to his estates in Cork as his fame grew?


The legendary throwing down of his cloak into a puddle apart, he first attracted the attention of the queen, it is said, by taking a diamond ring and scratching words on a window pane at Greenwich Palace, where he knew she would see them.


It read, ‘Fain would I climb, yet fear to fall’, to which the Virgin Queen added underneath, ‘If thy heart fail thee, climb not at all’. He stayed her firm favourite for ten years, could do no wrong in her eyes, took advantage of the fact and generally behaved badly to men and women of rank, making many enemies who suffered silently and bided their time waiting for his fall.


Under her wing he became ‘the best-hated man in the world and she took him for a kind of oracle’. She knighted him, gave him property in England (including Sherborne Lodge in Dorset in 1592), land in Ireland, and granted him an exclusive license to import wine that was worth some £700 a year – this in an age when a wealthy merchant might live comfortably on £100. Remarkably, he was also allowed to benefit from a levy imposed on every pack of playing cards sold – which must have been an anathema to a court that did little but haunt the corridors and antechambers of the royal palaces seeking to win the queen’s favour by either composing some of history’s worst love poetry – or playing cards. Raleigh, by contrast, has been dubbed, quite rightly, one of the great ‘silver poets’ of his time.


That fall came as a result of his secret dalliance with one of the Queen’s Gentlewomen of the Privy Chamber, one Bess Throckmorton (née Carew). She had come to court in 1584, aged 19. Now, aged 25, she began an affair with the now 37-year-old Raleigh and became pregnant by him.


Contemporary descriptions of her differ but are perhaps best evidenced by her portraits as being ‘a tall, unusual beauty with her long face, luminous eyes, strong nose and provocatively modest lips’. Theirs was certainly a love match that endured to the grave – and beyond.


A secret marriage followed and they both returned to court after the birth of their child, Damerel, on 29 March: but there were few secrets in the Tudor court and as their marriage was exposed – by the sinister Robert Cecil – the queen became incandescent with rage for ‘betraying her royal person’ by marrying without her permission and had them both thrown into the Tower on 7 August, he in the Brick Tower, she elsewhere, there to remain, ‘at Her Majesty’s pleasure’.


He kept up a steady flow of glittering love poems to her and was released five weeks later, although an historian has written, ‘Elizabeth was irritated rather than pacified by these gestures, smacking as they did of implicit defiance and a wholesale lack of remorse’. Bess, on the other hand, was kept under lock and key and only released three days before Christmas, when she learned that their child had died of the plague some time before.


Raleigh had been packed off to Dartmouth – on a mission of reprisal against the Spanish – and in the charge of a fellow Devonian, the extraordinarily wealthy and influential Sir John Hawkins – who had pleaded his case – and Bess made her way to her own family home and later to the South West, from where they were expected to plead for forgiveness. When neither of them did, Raleigh was nevertheless taken back into the fold.


Two more children were born to Walter and Bess: Walter at Lillington in Dorset and Carew at Sherborne.


His daring-do and exploits beyond the court – in which he was trapped and found stifling – are, of course, all the stuff of British history. Raleigh the seafarer, the explorer who masterminded and financed the colonising expeditions to North America – naming Virginia in his monarch’s honour. He was the scourge of the Spanish Main and made himself and people around him, but especially his queen, wealthy with plundered treasure.


Although both tobacco and potatoes were already known from Spanish explorers, Raleigh popularised them, introducing the potato to Ireland – first to his own estates there – and actually promoted tobacco as a good cure for coughs.


Raleigh designed and built his own warship, which he named the Ark Raleigh but later gave it to the queen, who renamed it the Ark Royal. It became the flagship of the English fleet against the Spanish Armada. He was the queen’s naval adviser and with Hawkins improved the design of the ships that were so successful against the Spanish.


Even monarchs sometimes know which side their bread is buttered and Elizabeth’s anger abated, as she consented to his idea of pursuing his long-held dream of discovering the fabled golden land of El Dorado, which he believed to be in Guiana, now Venezuela. Although the mission was unsuccessful, it did not put an end to his dream, which he attempted to fulfil one final time by playing it as a ‘Get-out-of-jail-free card’ with Elizabeth’s successor, James.


At Elizabeth’s death in 1603, Raleigh fell foul of the ex-king of Scotland and was again imprisoned in the Tower, this time under the trumped up charge that he had been involved in a Catholic plot to unthrone James. There he tended a small herb garden, was granted an exercise walk along part of the battlements, concocted ‘cordials’ and healing balms of many kinds (he regularly prescribed for Ann of Denmark herself, the wife of the king) and writing.


His philosophical writings and poetry are all still in print and wonderful to read. Most famous of all perhaps is his Historie of the World, first taking the reader through Biblical times and grinding to a halt in AD 168. But there he drew the line, writing ‘for whosoever in writing a modern history shall follow truth too near the heels, it may haply strike out his teeth’.


In 1616 he was pardoned and allowed to form a second expedition to find the elusive city of El Dorado on his oath that he would attack neither Spanish ships nor colonies, there having now been a peace treaty signed between the two countries. That 1617 expedition was to prove a disaster.


No gold was found and while Raleigh was elsewhere, his close friend and captain (and one-time fellow prisoner in the Tower with him) Lawrence Kemys, attacked and burned a Spanish settlement. Raleigh’s eldest son, Walter, just 22, was shot and killed in that same action.


Hearing the news, Raleigh told Kemys, ‘You have undone me’, Kemys replying simply, ‘I know then, Sir, what course to take’. He returned to his own cabin and shot himself. Raleigh returned, empty handed, was arrested, tried and sentenced to death to appease Spain.


He was now an old man, broken by ill health and imprisonment, and wrote these lines in his final night in the Tower. ‘I cannot write much, God he knows how hardly I steale time while others sleep, and it is also time that I should separate my thoughts from the world.’ And then, ‘Even Such is Time’:




Even such is time, that takes in trust, Our youth, our joys, our all we have, And pays us but with age and dust; Who, in the dark and silent grave, When we have wandered all our ways, Shuts up the story of our days. But from this earth, this grave, this dust, My God shall raise me up, I trust.





In his final note to Bess he wrote, ‘Begg my dead body which living was denied thee; and either lay it at Sherburne or in Exeter Church, by my Father and Mother; I can say no more, time and death call me away.’


He was beheaded outside the Palace of Westminster early on the bitterly cold morning of 29 October 1618. From the scaffold he told the crowd: ‘I have lived a sinful life, in all sinful callings; for I have been a soldier, a captain, a sea-captain, and a courtier, which are all places of wickedness and vice.’


Then he asked the executioner to hurry because it was cold and he did not want his enemies to think that he trembled for fear. ‘Make haste,’ he said, ‘for I have a long journey ahead of me.’ It took two strokes of the axe to sever his head and when it was held aloft at the executioner’s customary cry of ‘Behold the head of a traitor’ it was met with silence from the crowd save for a lone voice that cried out, ‘We have not such another head to be cut off!’


In preparing this chapter, the Carew family historian Sir Rivers Carew was consulted on the subject of the mystery surrounding the burials of both Sir Walter and Bess Throckmorton (née Carew). He wrote that Bess had wanted her husband’s body to be buried at her brother’s church of St Mary the Virgin, Beddington, in Surrey.


Sir Rivers spoke of the author and historian Ronald Michell, who speculates ‘that Raleigh’s body may actually have been buried at Beddington after all’. ‘He based this on the letter she wrote to‘My best brother Sir Nicholas Carew at Beddington’ asking him to allow this, saying, ‘The Lords have given me his ded boddi’ and ‘This nit hee shall be brought you with two or three of my men’.


Sir Rivers said: ‘Michell argued that Sir Nicholas would hardly have refused his sister’s appeal, and that this is what actually happened. In her letter she also expressed her wish to be buried there; I don’t know if she was.’


The mystery remains but it may explain why Raleigh’s youngest son, Carew Raleigh, who was ‘killed’ in London in 1680 (how and why is not known) was first buried in St Margaret’s Church, Westminster ‘with his father’ but then later reburied at Beddington. Was his father’s head entrusted to him on his mother’s death in 1647 and eventually placed in his own coffin at his own death? And is Bess also buried there so that all of them might be together at last?


Perhaps we shall never know for certain. The last word on that particular subject therefore is with Ann Smith, the archivist at Sherborne Castle in Dorset, who wrote: ‘The ghost of Sir Walter is reputed to walk the grounds of Sherborne Castle on 29 October, but I must say I have never seen him in all the years I have worked here (nor met anyone who has). If ever I do, I hope I have the presence of mind to ask him some searching questions!’


But looking for an alternative and more fitting ending to Raleigh’s life should properly lie with his biographer, William Stebbing, who concluded his authoritative work on Devon’s most illustrious son by writing:




Yet, with all the shortcomings, no figure, no life gathers up in itself more completely the whole spirit of an epoch; none more firmly enchains admiration for invincible individuality or ends by winning a more personal tenderness and affection.
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Trust in God and keep your powder dry!’ (Oliver Cromwell).


‘Who shall govern this realm, King or Parliament?’ (Charles I).





DEVON DIVIDED IN ‘A WORLD TURNED UPSIDE-DOWN’


For some of us, the English Civil War has never ended: today’s splendid re-enactment societies such as The Sealed Knot, for example, attract huge crowds throughout the summer months as they continue to play out the bloody battles and skirmishes that once split our nation in two.


If so much of our contemporary story-telling is to be believed, the flamboyant long-haired ‘Cavaliers’ are most often portrayed as the good guys, while the kill-joy close-cropped ‘Roundheads’ take the role of the not so good. But both names were coined by the protagonists themselves to insult each other, so more properly we were all of us in those days either Royalists or Parliamentarians, whether we liked it or not.


King Charles ‘lost’, of course, both the war and his head, and Oliver Cromwell ‘won’ but it was only for a few short years (1642–51). With the Restoration of the Monarchy – and the reintroduction of general merriment and bonhomie – revenge was swift. Cromwell’s corpse – three years in its grave – was first dug up, then strung up before finally having its head put on a spike outside Westminster Hall where it remained until 1685.


So which side was Devon on? The answer is not a simple one. Seventeenth-century Devon country folk were, for the most part, poor and uneducated and were told by their landlords which side they were to support and ultimately to fight for. By contrast, there are many instances within the ranks of the more well-to-do where one son was sent to fight for the king, the other for Parliament: hedging one’s bets is nothing new.


In simple terms, most of Devon could have done without it but all of Devon found itself embroiled in the dark struggles of what turned out to be three English Civil Wars that claimed the lives of more than 85,000 in armed conflicts and 100,000 more from war-related diseases: this from a population of some 5 million.


It is a matter of record that a young shepherd and his flock who inadvertently strayed into the preparations for a battle in 1644 – a full two years into the conflict – had to have it explained to him that the king and Parliament were at war. ‘Whassat?’ enquired the good swain, ‘As them two fallen out then?’


North Devon was the first part of the county to feel the effects of the war, with bloody skirmishes and sieges at Ilfracombe and Barnstaple, but there is hardly a community of any size, town or village in Devon that does not have its tales of confrontation and hardship. Cromwell, in charge of the New Model Army’s cavalry, and General Sir Thomas Fairfax, its supreme commander, came into Ottery St Mary in east Devon, took over the town and stabled their horses inside the church. The town’s great house, Chanters, was their base and in its dining room there is a panel recording:




In this room Oliver Cromwell in the fall of the year 1645 convened the people of the town and neighbourhood and demanded of them men and money for the Civil War. Here also on October 29th Members of Parliament on behalf of both houses presented Sir Thomas Fairfax with a fair jewel and hung it about his neck in honour of his skill and valour at Naseby fight.





Meanwhile, outside, one of Cromwell’s bored cavalrymen whiled away the afternoon by taking pot shots at the remarkable weather vane that once topped the parish church. Called the ‘Trumpeting Cock’ by the long-suffering people of the town, it was hollow and fitted with a two-note whistle that ‘crowed’ in the wind.


Naseby had been decisive in the fortunes of the king. He lost most of his veteran infantry and officers, all of his artillery and stores. But worse still, in the captured baggage train Fairfax’s troops found his personal papers revealing his attempts to draw Irish Catholics and foreign mercenaries into the war. As the war raged to and fro across England and with towns and villages often changing allegiances depending on the arrival of the latest occupying force, Charles’s queen, Henrietta Maria, heavily pregnant with her ninth child, left the Royalists’ capital of Oxford and fled to the West Country, intending to escape to France from Falmouth – Plymouth having already declared for Parliament.


She got as far as Exeter, a city then in Royalist hands following siege upon siege, arriving on 1 May 1644, and stayed at Bedford House, close to the city centre, where, aged 35, on 16 June 1644, she gave birth to Princess Henrietta Anne. At this time, the Parliamentary forces led by the Earl of Essex were yet again threatening the west and planned to attack Exeter and hold the queen to ransom as a bargaining chip in the king’s surrender. Although she had had a difficult labour and the baby was poorly, the poor woman hurried on again, this time to Cornwall and thence to France, leaving her new baby in the care of Lady Dalkeith, who saw to it that the sickly infant was baptised in ‘the new font’ in the cathedral on 21 July 1644.


King Charles and his army arrived in Exeter and saw his still-surviving baby daughter for the first and only time on 26 July 1644. He then moved quickly into Cornwall, where he defeated the Parliamentary forces of the Earl of Essex at Lostwithiel. But the war continued to ebb and flow as the opposing forces battled for supremacy in the west until Parliament gradually gained the upper hand. While Royalist Exeter was still under siege, this time by Fairfax and Cromwell, 10,000 Parliamentarians broke away from the siege and marched north to Torrington, where the Royalists had barricaded the town – and as fate would have it – had stored eighty barrels of gunpowder in the church.


The battle began in pouring rain and total darkness on the bitterly cold night of 16 February 1646; It was to be the last battle in the west. As Fairfax waited for dawn to break, Cromwell arrived with his cavalry and advanced on the barricades at the edge of the town to test their strengths by firing blindly into them. All hell broke loose.


Some 17,000 men and horses fought in the freezing downpour, street by street, with the terrified townsfolk watching the bloodshed below them from upstairs windows. After the exchange of fire there was little time or space to reload, as pikemen rushed against pikemen and musket butts were used as clubs in the hand-to-hand fighting along the narrow streets and alleyways until, by some mischance and nobody knows how, the powder stacked in the church exploded. It took the roof off the building and killed more than 200 men from both sides.


The Royalists scattered towards Cornwall: it was the beginning of the end of resistance by their forces in the west and led eventually to the capture and execution of the king. Dartmouth and Exeter surrendered to the New Model Army in April 1646. One of Fairfax’s first actions in the city was to issue an order whereby the young Princess Henrietta Anne, now aged 3, was given written safe conduct to travel to London together with the loyal Lady Dalkeith and her small household. Once out of sight of their escort at the Devon border however, the good lady headed for Dover and then to France, where she reunited the little girl with her mother. Did Fairfax connive at this deviation from the route? Lord Thomas Fairfax, or ‘Black Tom’ as he was known to both sides, was an honourable man on and off the battlefield. He opposed the execution of the king and as a consequence was pardoned by Charles II at the Restoration while many, many others were not.


Which brings events to a fateful conclusion with the Restoration of the Monarchy. On 30 January 1661, the twelfth anniversary of the execution of Charles I, the remains of the body of the Lord Protector of England, Scotland and Ireland was exhumed from its crypt and subjected to a posthumous execution. At least that is what the Royalists thought they had done. Cromwell’s body had been buried in Westminster Abbey, amid great pomp and ceremony, alongside the body of his daughter, Elizabeth, who had died earlier and her tomb remained undisturbed. But was it really Cromwell’s body? It is thought by some that his family, friends and followers who could see what was coming had already removed the corpse and reburied it several times to cheat the vengeful Royalists of their grisly goal.


Cambridgeshire, London, Northamptonshire and Yorkshire are all places that have been suggested – while that head itself, when it was finally lifted from its spike outside Westminster Hall, finished up beneath the floor of the antechapel at Sidney Sussex College, Cambridge – warts and all. But whose head?


With the status quo restored, the vacated Cromwell vault in Westminster Abbey was later used as a burial place for eleven of Charles II’s twelve illegitimate descendants; his illegitimate son, the would-be revolutionary the Duke of Monmouth is buried – minus his head – beneath the chapel floor in the Tower of London, having been beheaded publicly for treason on 15 July 1685. His head was displayed on a spike, not outside Westminster this time, but on London Bridge.
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John Ridd, the man Lorna marries, tells her story in his old age. She had long black hair, dark eyes and was beautiful, he said. For the rest she embodies unblemished purity of the Victorian-era romantic heroine.





WILL THE REAL LORNA DOONE PLEASE STAND UP?


The Doones got away with murder, quite literally. For although Blackmore’s classic nineteenth-century novel Lorna Doone, set on the Devon and Somerset borders, is a work of fiction, it is so cleverly researched and interwoven with historic fact that even the good people of Exmoor nowadays sometimes find it difficult to distinguish between the two, while the Exmoor tourist industry – understandably – seldom tries.


Exmoor owes Lorna plenty. First the book and its countless reprints, then no fewer than ten films and television serialisations over the years, all conspire to pull in the visitors. In short, Lorna continues to do for tourism in the West Country what the rich harvest brought about from those Poldarkian biceps in the barley do for Cornwall.


The name Doone is real enough but the Lorna part was a fiction. Nowadays a popular first name, it did not exist until it was coined for his heroine by her creator, Richard Doddridge Blackmore, in 1869 – in the same way that J.M. Barrie conjured up the name Wendy out of thin air in 1904, as a consort for Peter Pan. The real Doone family lived on Exmoor in the seventeenth century right enough, and were a thoroughly bad lot. Murder, kidnapping, plunder, arson, cattle rustling, burglary and highway robbery were all in a day’s work for the bloody-handed villains of this extended family, who seemed to have led charmed lives, untouched by the law in their hidden valley that straddled the border of the two counties.


The authorities in Devon probably claimed that it was the responsibility of their neighbours in Somerset to raise the funds and organise the armed force that was needed to penetrate their rural stronghold and flush them out, and vice versa. In his novel, Blackmore suggests that it was all due to bribery and corruption, and that the Doones had the authorities eating out of their hands. Who knows the truth of it 400 years after the events?


Blackmore’s father was a country parson and Richard went to Blundell’s School in Tiverton, Devon, and thence to Exeter College, Oxford. After university he married and worked first as a lawyer, then a market gardener and finally as a schoolmaster. He read an article on the Doones in a magazine while on holiday in north Devon and was inspired to write the book. He wrote thirteen novels in total, with varying success but Lorna Doone, which passed into more than forty editions in his lifetime, put him in the front rank of Victorian writers, although it is probably fair to say that Lorna and her sweetheart, John, stand out as the only truly memorable creations of their author. Except for the fact that Blackmore took seventy-five chapters to unfold this historic tale of romance and swashbuckling adventure, the plot is essentially the classic boy (John Ridd) meets girl (Lorna Doone), boy loses girl, boy gets girl. John Ridd’s father had been murdered during a Doone rustling raid at the start of the book and Lorna (we are given to believe) is the granddaughter of Sir Ensor Doone, the ringleader of the red-handed clan. An impossible match and irreconcilable differences you would think? Read on. It gets worse.


Lorna’s cousin, Carver Doone – what a name for the blackest villain ever painted in English literature – is vowed to wed her when Ensor dies and he becomes chieftain. Poor Lorna. John and Lorna meet when he climbs a waterfall that turns out to be a back way into the Doone kingdom, where he spies on Lorna and becomes instantly and totally enamoured. Seventy chapters and 350-odd pages later they…. but enough! Who would dare spoil the ending of what is a thoroughly gripping, bodice-ripping yarn by a fine writer and good storyteller.


Once part of the Scottish nobility, the real Doones were exiled by the Earl of Murray from lands they claimed were theirs in about 1620. The leader of this émigré pack, Sir Ensor Doone, who had murdered his twin brother so that he might lay claim to Doune Castle – still up there, near Stirling (they used it at the start of Monty Python and the Holy Grail). The entire brood trundled into Devon via London, with all the portable possessions they could lay hands on. Here, they tried to charm fellow Scot king James to their cause, to no avail. Given short shrift by the canny king, Ensor was sent packing with the Jacobean equivalent of ‘go West ye villain’ ringing in his ears, and so set out upon his weary way until he stumbled across a countryside much like the one from which they had been thrown out. But this time, to what must have been Ensor’s undoubted joy, it was inhabited by gentle, rural folk who could be dominated by the gang with ease and set upon and robbed at knife point. Here then were the good people of wild and wonderful Exmoor and here they decided to stay. Unchecked by neighbours, who did what they could to keep out of their way, local women were coerced into the fold and other followers and hangers-on joined them, whence they bred like flies to become what Ensor called his ‘great and loyal family’ and to the rest of the West Country, a lawless gang.


The valley they took for their own is still there and very much a part of the tourist trail. It runs north to south from tiny Malmesbury at its head – below County Gate on Exmoor – down through to Badgeworthy (where John Ridd’s father was murdered on the way home from Porlock). This is the heart of Lorna-Doone-the-book country. Here is the water slide, so-called ‘Lorna’s Cott’ and nearby Oare House and Oare Church (where Blackmore’s grandfather was once rector), where the dastardly Carver shot poor Lorna on her wedding day. Blackmore took his inspiration for that particular climactic event from an actual shooting at St Michael’s Church at Chagford, Devon. There is a plaque there that tells how one Mary Whiddon, may she rest in peace, was shot dead by a jealous suitor on her wedding day, 11 October 1641. Was our Lorna killed? We are honour bound not to divulge any more of the book. All we said was that Lorna was shot. Full stop.


What better way to close, therefore, than with the words of the man who loved her. And this perhaps is where fact and fiction marry, for although the words are those of John Ridd – now an old man – they come from the pen of Blackmore, a man who, it is known, was devoted to his wife Lucy. Blackmore surely drew upon his feelings for her when he finished his book with this, very telling last paragraph:




Of Lorna, of my lifelong darling, of my more and more loved wife, I will not talk; for it is not seemly that a man should exalt his pride. Year by year her beauty grows, with the growth of goodness, kindness, and true happiness – above all with loving. For change, she makes a joke of this, and plays with it, and laughs at it; and then, when my slow nature marvels, back she comes to the earnest thing. And if I wish to pay her out for something very dreadful – as may happen once or twice, when we become too gladsome – I bring her to forgotten sadness, and to me for cure of it, by the two words ‘Lorna Doone.’
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There was a time when virtually every main crossroad in the West was marked either by a witch’s grave, a suicide’s burial or a gibbet.





DIRTY WORK AT THE CROSSROADS


The last women to be hanged for witchcraft in Britain were from Devon. Three of them died at Heavitree, on the outskirts of Exeter, by having ropes with slip knots tied around their necks. Then they were lifted bodily off the ground. It was how they did things in those days and at that place. It was August 1682 and thousands of people walked out from the city on the Honiton road, following behind the hapless trio and up the hill to where the road still forks to watch the spectacle and listen to any final words from the women before cheering wildly as they left the ground to kick their legs in the ‘gallows dance’. The three unfortunates were Temperance Lloyd, Mary Trembles and Susanna Edwards, three poor, terrified women who were brought down from Bideford to Exeter to one of the two ‘official’ places where Devon’s death penalties were carried out. One of them, Temperance Lloyd, and the only one to have made any kind of ‘confession’, was probably mentally deranged. The other two screamed their innocence until the end.


At Tyburn in London, where the vast crowds demanded a better view of events, those convicted met their ends by being pushed from the tailboard of a cart (the same cart that had brought them from prison, seated on their coffins), their nooses already tied to the crossbeam of the gallows. For charity’s sake they were given a last stiff drink before their final journey began – ‘one for the road’. That was their last, for now they were decidedly ‘on the wagon’. At the Tyburn tree, as the cart was whipped away friends or family might rush forward and hang on to the legs of their loved ones to cut short their agony. Not so in Devon. At Heavitree, a place like many others in England that takes its name from the terrible tree that once served as a gallows there, death was a much more drawn out affair. What mattered on these occasions was that justice was seen to be done by those who administered the laws of the day and witchcraft was only one of the crimes that called for the death penalty. Others included murder, treason, highway robbery, sheep stealing, cattle rustling, forgery, arson, house-breaking, thievery, assault and rape. There was one exception to hanging for murder. Women who murdered their husbands were never hanged. Instead they were put to death by being burned alive. Their crime was known as ‘petty treason’ and defined under the Treason Act of 1351. It was seen as ‘an assault on the majesty of the State’ as well as the actual victim and therefore ‘against the natural order of things’. The Act was repealed in 1825 but the last woman to be burned alive in Exeter was Rebecca Downing, a servant girl who died on 29 June 1782 for poisoning her mistress.
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